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 Commercial contracts have become increasingly long and intricate. This mirrors the 

fact that business transactions have become more complex in nature. Reaching agreement can 

involve protracted negotiations. These developments have had a number of effects. One is the 

increasing amount of paperwork introduced in any legal dispute about the meaning of a 

contract.1 A second is that the final, signed contract is often not properly checked by the 

parties. In Milton Keynes v Viridor (Community Recycling MK) Ltd, Coulson J lamented that 

a mistake in the written agreement was “perhaps a sad reflection of the fact that modern day 

contracts of this kind are so complicated that nobody (not even the consultants) bothers to 

check the actual documentation being signed”.2 Thirdly, and relatedly, the increased 

complexity means that mistakes are more likely to be made.3 Fourthly, due to the expertise 

needed and time taken to reach an agreement, a commercial actor may employ a third party to 

negotiate the agreement on its behalf.  

 This article will focus on these last two points. Mistakes are, generally, best corrected 

through rectification.4 Rectification depends on there being a mistake, and it is important to 

determine whose mistake is relevant for these purposes. In the context of rectification for 

common mistake, there is much debate about whether a party actually, or subjectively, needs 

to have made a mistake, or whether it is sufficient if a reasonable observer would consider 

that party to have been mistaken.5 But little attention has been given to what “the party” 

means in circumstances where agents have been involved in the transaction.6 

 Problems are particularly acute where a principal has entrusted contract negotiations 

to a third party. That third party is often called an “agent”. However, that term has been used 
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to encompass a variety of situations.7 Sometimes the negotiator will have actual authority to 

bind the principal. But often the negotiator will not have actual authority, and might not have 

apparent authority to enter into a contract, or even to communicate that a contract has been 

agreed. For example, it might be made clear to the other contracting party that the “agent” has 

no authority to bind the principal, and only has the authority to present a negotiated 

agreement to the board of the company, which will decide whether or not to enter into the 

agreement.8 There has been some confusion about whether, in such circumstances, the 

intention and mistake of a negotiator should be attributed to the contracting party. This is a 

difficult topic. It is clear that the application of rules of attribution depends on context; as 

Lord Hoffmann rightly remarked in Meridian Global Funds Management Asia Ltd v 

Securities Commission, the key question is: “Whose act (or knowledge, or state of mind) was 

for this purpose intended to count as the act etc. of the company?”9 The facts of any given 

case will need to be examined closely. In the context of rectification, the intention of the 

person who was authorised to decide whether to enter into the contract should be paramount. 

It is therefore important to determine who was the “decision-maker” as regards the contract 

and terms at issue. Particular difficulties arise where a board of a company, which is the only 

body authorised to enter into the contract, passively follows a negotiator’s recommendations 

without further enquiries. Earlier cases held that the negotiator’s intentions were irrelevant 

because the negotiator did not have any authority (apparent or actual) to bind the company, 

whereas more recent case law suggests that the intention of the negotiator may well be 

relevant for rectification. This shift away from an exclusive focus upon the intention of the 

authorised decision-maker is significant. References to “the contracting party” labouring 

under a mistake for the purposes of rectification therefore need to be examined more 

carefully. Yet this issue has been largely ignored in the secondary literature, and often 

overlooked in the decided cases.10 

 Such a lack of attention is unfortunate. After all, there are an increasing number of 

cases which evidence a split between the person negotiating the contract and the person with 

authority to enter into it. The troublesome decision in Daventry District Council v Daventry 

& District Housing Ltd,11 now a leading decision on rectification for common mistake, is one 
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such example. The case concerned a term of a contract relating to who was to bear 

responsibility for a deficit in the employees’ pension fund as part of a much larger 

commercial arrangement. The negotiator for Daventry & District Housing Ltd (“DDH”) was 

Mr Roebuck. Mr Roebuck was neither a director nor employee of DDH. Mr Roebuck was 

instead a finance director of Amber Valley Housing Ltd, which was intended to become a 

sister company of DDH. But it was understood by all parties that the board of DDH would 

need to agree to any contract proposed following the negotiations. The board of DDH was 

presented with such a draft agreement, and its plain meaning was that the Council, not DDH, 

would bear responsibility for the deficit. The board was not mistaken on this. Significantly, 

the board of DDH would not have accepted an agreement that required DDH to take on the 

pension deficit.12 However, the focus at both first instance and in the Court of Appeal was on 

whether Mr Roebuck made a mistake. This is understandable: before the trial judge, Mr 

Roebuck’s “intention [was] accepted as being properly regarded as the intention of DDH, 

whatever its board may have thought”.13 Such acceptance made it easier for the majority of 

the Court of Appeal ultimately to rectify the contract so that DDH would bear responsibility 

for the pension deficit, since a reasonable observer would think that both the Council and 

DDH had made a mistake. This is unsatisfactory. The result was that the decision-maker for 

DDH – the board – was found to be mistaken when it was not actually mistaken; any mistake 

was made by Mr Roebuck, who was not a decision-maker and had no authority to bind DDH. 

 This article will first outline the types of agents under examination and the principles 

of attribution in Section I. Brief consideration will then be given in Section II to whether the 

fact that the contract was negotiated by third parties should affect the factual matrix and 

hence principles of interpretation. It will be suggested that a restrictive approach to the 

background context of the agreement is generally appropriate and in line with recent 

decisions. Section III, which is the core of the article, will then analyse how courts have dealt 

with negotiators in claims for rectification, in the context of rectification for both common 

mistake and unilateral mistake.  

 

I Agents and Attribution 
An agent may act for a natural person or a legal person. However, the leading cases 

have all concerned agents negotiating contracts entered into by companies, and that will be 

the focus of this article. A company cannot itself act or intend something; it acts and intends 

through the agency of natural persons. Acts and intentions of natural persons can be 

attributed to a company. Attribution raises a host of difficulties,14 but it will be helpful to 
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make some general points at the outset before considering the particular context of 

rectification in more detail.  

In the well-known decision of the Privy Council in Meridian Global Funds 

Management Asia Ltd v Securities Commission,15 Lord Hoffmann broke away from the 

strictures of requiring an individual to be identified as the “directing mind and will” of a 

company for his or her acts or intentions to be attributed to the company.16 Actors who 

cannot be identified as such may still have their acts and intentions attributed to the company. 

This could, for example, include hired negotiators who are obviously not in control of the 

company. 

In Meridian, Lord Hoffmann influentially said that there are primary, general and 

special rules of attribution.17 Primary rules of attribution will generally be found in a 

company’s constitution. They need to be supplemented by general rules of attribution which 

are equally applicable to natural persons. These may be found in the general principles of 

agency. The primary and general rules will often suffice, but in some circumstances there 

may be a rule of law which excludes attribution on the basis of general principles of agency, 

in which case the court must fashion a special rule of attribution. Such special rules require 

close attention to the context and purpose of the rule at issue, often regarding statutory 

liability. 

Identifying which individual’s intention should represent the intention of the company 

for the purposes of rectification might involve recourse to the primary, general or special 

rules of attribution, depending on the context.18 It is important to appreciate that principles of 

agency law are therefore not necessarily conclusive when determining whose intention 

should count. However, in the vast majority of cases it is to be expected that the relevant 

intention will be that of the person who had authority to enter into the contract on behalf of 

the company. 

This article will focus upon negotiators who had no actual or apparent authority to 

bind the company to a contract, which corresponds to the area that currently causes the most 

problems in practice. Fewer problems arise where an agent is authorised to bind the company 

and does so. For example, if the board is authorised by the company’s constitution to enter 

into a contract, and does so under a mistake – perhaps reflected in the minutes of a board 

meeting – then it is clear why a rectification claim may succeed.19 However, in some unusual 

circumstances the correct approach may not be so straightforward. As Sir Terence Etherton C 
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observed in Day v Day,20  “the doctrine of rectification is concerned with intention, or rather 

the mistaken implementation of intention, rather than the power and authority to effect a 

particular transaction”.21 That case concerned a voluntary disposition rather than a bilateral 

contract. Mrs Day granted a general power of attorney to her solicitor. The solicitor then 

conveyed property from Mrs Day to Mrs Day and one of her sons, Terence, as beneficial joint 

tenants. Upon Mrs Day’s death, her other children sought rectification of the conveyance 

since Mrs Day did not intend Terence to acquire any beneficial interest in the property. The 

trial judge held that what the solicitor did was within the scope of his authority, and since he 

was not mistaken rectification should not be ordered. But the Court of Appeal allowed the 

appeal, and insisted that the relevant intention for rectification was that of the principal, Mrs 

Day. That was because she was the true “decision maker”,22 rather than the solicitor. On the 

basis that Mrs Day was the person who truly decided to enter into the conveyance of the 

property, the decision is sensible.23 It highlights that even if an agent is authorised, a contrary 

“superior” intention of the principal may trump that of the agent.24 It is suggested that this 

applies in a similar manner to bilateral contracts, and requires a close analysis of the facts to 

determine who is the true “decision maker”. 

Day v Day was perhaps unusual in that the intentions of the principal and agent were 

different. Often, where the agent is authorised to enter into a contract and does so, the 

principal will not have any relevant intention as to the particular terms of the contract, and 

will not be considered to be the true “decision maker”. In such circumstances, the relevant 

intention for the purposes of rectification will be that of the agent.25 Difficulties arise where 

the agent presents the negotiated contract to the principal, and the principal then tells the 

agent to enter into the contract. The intentions of the principal and agent may diverge, and 

only one of them may be mistaken. Both parties had authority to enter into the contract, but it 

is crucial to determine who should be considered the “decision maker” on the particular facts 

of the case. This issue will be considered further below.26 

The situation is further complicated if the agent only has apparent, rather than actual, 

authority to bind the company. Apparent authority raises difficult questions, including the 

basis of the doctrine. The traditional justification rests upon a (weak) form of estoppel.27 The 

principal makes a representation to the third party that an agent has authority to bind the 

principal, and if the third party relies upon this then the principal should not be able to deny 
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being bound. However, as Sir Terence Etherton C remarked in Day v Day, “[a]pparent or 

ostensible authority of the agent may make the transaction binding on the principal even 

where it does not coincide with the actual intention of the principal and the express 

instructions given to the agent, but (subject to the facts of any particular case) there is no 

obvious reason why such apparent authority should throw any light on the right to 

rectification”.28 Once again, it is important to decide who was the “decision maker” for the 

company. Nevertheless, if a negotiator has apparent authority to bind the company, it will 

generally be reasonable to attribute his or her intentions to the company since the third party 

will have been dealing with the negotiator as decision-maker. This helps to protect the 

position of the third party, and is consistent with the principle that the company in relying 

upon the contract cannot both “approbate and reprobate”29 and so should take the contract 

subject to any mistakes made by the “agent”. If the company resists rectification on the basis 

that its board of directors, for example, was not mistaken whereas the purported agent was, 

that may be unfair to the other party to the contract: the company put the agent in a position 

where it was reasonable for the counterparty to think that the agent was the decision maker. 

Conversely, if the company seeks rectification on the basis that the board was mistaken 

whereas the unauthorised agent with only apparent authority was not mistaken, that might 

also be unfair on the counterparty since the counterparty was reasonably dealing with the 

agent as decision-maker. On the other hand, if the counterparty was labouring under the same 

mistake as the board then it may appear equitable to rectify the contract, if ultimately the 

court concludes that the board was the relevant decision-maker. 

Even more difficult is the spate of recent cases, considered in Section III, which 

consider situations where the negotiator has neither actual nor apparent authority to bind the 

company to a contract. This can arise where the principal makes no representation to the third 

party that the agent can do anything more than negotiate terms to present to the principal, 

who is responsible for making the ultimate decision whether to contract on those terms. In 

those circumstances, the agency might be termed “incomplete agency”.30 Such agents are not 

uncommon,31 and are often used in the course of negotiations.32 Incomplete agents cannot 
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bind their principal to third parties,33 and it may be very difficult to conclude that the 

negotiator is the “decision maker”.  

There is authority that the intentions of canvassing agents should not be attributed to 

the principal when considering criminal offences,34 and the same approach might be taken 

when considering rectification. After all, the principal might be expected to check the 

contract that it signs,35 and should be bound by its contents.36 However, in some 

circumstances that might seem unfair, especially if a company is able to defend a claim for 

rectification where it would not have been able to had it not used a negotiator.37 Where the 

company relied entirely upon the negotiator, and did not play an active role in deciding 

whether the contract was commercially advantageous, there is a stronger argument for 

attributing the negotiator’s intentions to the company. This matter will be explored fully in 

Section III. 

 

II Interpretation 
 Before considering rectification, it is important to emphasise that a contract must first 

be interpreted. Rare suggestions to the contrary should be disregarded.38 The purpose of 

rectification is to alter the written document because it does not reflect the true intentions of 

the parties,39 but in order to determine whether this is necessary the meaning of the 

contractual language must first be ascertained through the process of interpretation. As a 

result, it is clear that the more willing the law of interpretation is to correct mistakes, the less 

scope there will be for rectification.40 

 Huge amounts have been written about interpretation and the proper approach to be 

adopted. Lord Hoffmann’s well-known principles in Investors Compensation Scheme Ltd. v 

West Bromwich Building Society41 provided for some time the leading guidance on this 

issue.42 Lord Hoffmann emphasised that “[i]nterpretation is the ascertainment of the meaning 
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which the document would convey to a reasonable person having all the background 

knowledge which would reasonably have been available to the parties in the situation in 

which they were at the time of the contract”.43 His Lordship went on to say that, with narrow 

exceptions, the background “includes absolutely anything which would have affected the way 

in which the language of the document would have been understood by a reasonable man”.44 

This encouraged the court to take into account background factors as part of the factual 

matrix when interpreting a contract, and such considerations could lead to an interpretation 

that was contrary to the natural meaning of the contractual language chosen by the parties.45 

 More recently, however, the courts have shown a more restrained approach. In Arnold 

v Britton, for example, Lord Neuberger said:46   

“When interpreting a written contract, the court is concerned to identify the intention 

of the parties … it does so by focusing on the meaning of the relevant words … save 

perhaps in a very unusual case, that meaning is most obviously to be gleaned from the 

language of the provision”.  

This is not strictly inconsistent with the guidance of Investors Compensation Scheme, but the 

tenor of Lord Neuberger’s reasoning was very different from that favoured by Lord 

Hoffmann. Lord Neuberger placed greater emphasis on the words used by the parties, and 

gave much less weight to the ‘factual matrix’, than Lord Hoffmann tended to do. Indeed, the 

judgment of Lord Carnwath in Arnold v Britton was more consistent with the thrust of Lord 

Hoffmann’s approach, but Lord Carnwath was the sole dissentient. 

Admittedly, the Supreme Court did not make clear the extent to which Arnold v 

Britton signalled a shift from a contextual to a more textual approach to interpretation.47 And 

in Wood v Capita Insurance Services Lord Hodge expressed the view that “[t]he recent 

history of the common law of contractual interpretation is one of continuity rather than 

change”.48 However, this may have been partly motivated by a desire to show that “[o]ne of 
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the attractions of English law as a legal system of choice in commercial matters is its stability 

and continuity, particularly in contractual interpretation”.49  

It is suggested that the emphasis has shifted towards the natural meaning of the words 

chosen, placing less weight upon the background material.50 Indeed, the actual decision in 

Wood v Capita confirms that direction of travel. The contract was a share purchase agreement 

relating to shares in an insurance company. The agreement contained an indemnity by which 

the seller would pay the buyer an amount equal to losses that the company might incur from 

previous mis-selling of insurance products. The dispute was over the scope of that indemnity. 

The language of the indemnity created an apparently arbitrary approach to which losses for 

mis-selling would be indemnified. But the Supreme Court refused to depart from the natural 

language on the basis of “business common sense”. While the buyers of the company had an 

interest in broadening the indemnity, the sellers had an equal and opposite interest in 

narrowing it, and it was not for the Supreme Court to second-guess how the “tug o’ war” of 

commercial negotiations had ended.51  

Whereas previously courts routinely invoked ICS as guidance when dealing with 

questions of interpretation, such references are now much less frequent.52 Instead, courts are 

happy to refer to more recent decisions such as Arnold v Britton.53 This shift has been 

recognised extra-judicially by Lord Sumption, who said that “the Supreme Court has begun 

to withdraw from the more advanced positions seized during the Hoffmann offensive” albeit 

in “muffled tones”.54 

In any event, it might be thought that the relevant background should be more 

restricted when negotiated by non-contracting parties, since the contracting parties would not 

(necessarily) be aware of what was discussed during the course of negotiations.55 However, 

in some cases the invocation of negotiating agents has served to broaden the relevant 
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background,56 especially in the context of trade unions and collective agreements.57 In the 

context of commercial contracts, this is rare. One possible example is provided in Murray 

Holdings Investments Ltd v Oscatallo Investments Ltd,58 discussed below,59 where Mann J 

thought that the negotiators were both relevant persons “for the purposes of assessing what 

was shared knowledge of the contractual background”,60 although it was important in that 

case that the principals were passive and did not make any assumptions different from their 

negotiators.61 Generally, it is suggested that what the negotiators as “incomplete agents” 

knew should not be attributed to the contracting parties when constructing the “factual 

matrix”, beyond perhaps the purpose of the transaction (which was in fact the crucial point in 

Murray). In the area of commercial contracts between sophisticated commercial actors, it is 

suggested that the background should sensibly be limited to the identity of the parties, the 

nature and purpose of the transaction, and the market in which the transaction took place.62  

A stricter approach to interpretation which gives effect to clear and unambiguous 

language means that most mistakes will have to be corrected through rectification rather than 

interpretation. It is therefore important to pay proper attention to the equitable jurisdiction. 

Indeed, whilst the common law courts have retreated from the “Hoffmann offensive” as 

regards interpretation63 and implication of terms,64 there has not yet been a decisive retreat 

from Lord Hoffmann’s unorthodox views on rectification in Chartbrook and that may be next 

in line.  

 

III Rectification 

A. Common mistake rectification 

 There are two types of rectification: rectification for common mistake and 

rectification for unilateral mistake. Unfortunately, the distinction between these doctrines has 

become somewhat blurred because of a broad approach towards the finding of a common 
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mistake.65 Nevertheless, the two should properly be considered separately.66 This section will 

consider common mistake; unilateral mistake will be analysed in the next section. 

 The requirements for common mistake rectification were summarised in Daventry by 

Etherton LJ:67 

“(1) the parties had a common continuing intention, whether or not amounting to an 

agreement, in respect of a particular matter in the instrument to be rectified; (2) which 

existed at the time of execution of the instrument sought to be rectified; (3) such 

common continuing intention to be established objectively, that is to say by reference 

to what an objective observer would have thought the intentions of the parties to be; 

and (4) by mistake, the instrument did not reflect that common intention.” 

This faithfully applies the obiter dicta of Lord Hoffmann in Chartbrook that the common 

continuing intention of the parties should be determined objectively by asking what an 

objective observer would have thought the parties intended. This is troublesome: its doctrinal 

basis is shaky;68 it has the effect that an earlier, objective accord between the parties might 

trump the later, formal written contract; and seems inconsistent with the principle that equity 

should only intervene where both parties are actually mistaken.69 All these difficulties have 

been canvassed before.70 But they are perhaps particularly acute when it is found by the trial 

judge as a matter of fact that one of the contracting parties was not actually mistaken, as was 

the case in both Chartbrook and Daventry, and yet the contract could still be rectified for a 

common mistake.  

 The appropriate test for common mistake rectification is clearly a controversial issue, 

as shown by the number of extra-judicial comments made by senior judges regarding the 
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approach in Chartbrook,71 and the unease which has been expressed judicially.72 It is 

suggested that the decision and result in Daventry was unfortunate, but it is important to 

appreciate that even under the objective approach supported in Chartbrook and Daventry 

difficult issues of attribution should not be overlooked. Regardless of the precise test of 

common mistake rectification, it still needs to be determined whether a party made a mistake, 

which requires consideration of who the relevant party must be. Where that party is not the 

person who negotiated the contract, tricky issues of attribution can arise.  

  

i) Focussing on the contracting party’s intentions 

 It is right to focus upon the intention of the contracting party rather than a 

negotiator.73 If the principal did not bestow upon a negotiator actual authority to enter into a 

contract, that indicates that the principal wanted to retain control and make the final decision; 

the principal should generally be seen as the decision-maker. And if the negotiator does not 

even have ostensible authority to enter into a contract – since the principal made it clear to 

the other contracting party that the decision-making power remained with the principal – then 

the other party should generally be required to show that the principal made a mistake rather 

than the negotiator. It is important that companies, for example, be able to structure their 

affairs in a way which protects the way they wish to carry out business. Given the fact that 

the other party knows that the relevant intentions are those of the principal rather than 

negotiator, it is incumbent upon that party to make sure that the written draft presented to the 

principal and ultimately entered into accurately reflects the proposed deal.  

 Of course, mistakes will still be made. That is inevitable. But it is not inevitable that 

the courts step in and assist a mistaken party through rectification. Sophisticated commercial 

actors, perhaps advised by lawyers, consultants and others, may simply have to bear the 

consequences of their own mistake if it has not been shared by its counterparty to the 

contract. It is important to encourage parties to take seriously the idea that they are bound by 
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the language of the documents they sign. Such a strict approach will no doubt reduce the 

number of cases where rectification is granted. This has been lamented by some.74 But 

rectification “should not become a belated substitute for due diligence”,75 and, as Lord 

Walker observed in Pitt v Holt, it “is a closely guarded remedy, strictly limited to some 

clearly-established disparity between the words of a legal document, and the intentions of the 

parties to it”.76 It should not be easy to rectify contracts. So, if a negotiator makes a mistake, 

but the negotiator’s intention is not shared with the board of a company, as the decision-

maker, then it is unlikely that rectification will be available.77 Moreover, if the board is 

ignorant of an issue, and so does not have any intention at all on the point, rectification will 

not generally be granted.78 

 This view has been supported in a series of decisions. For example, in Mayor and 

Burgesses of the London Borough of Barnet v Barnet Football Club Holdings Limited,79 the 

claimant borough transferred Underhill Football Ground to the defendant football club. The 

borough had an obvious interest in the football club remaining within the borough, and 

sought to include a term that if the ground was later sold by the defendant without relocating 

to another stadium in the borough, the net proceeds of sale should be shared with the 

borough. Terms were essentially agreed with the defendant, but remarkably in one of the 

drafts the borough altered the relevant clause such that it only applied if the club left 

Underhill stadium within ten years. The defendant subtly tested whether this time limit was 

intended to be included in the course of negotiations, and the borough’s negotiator mistakenly 

confirmed the proposed ten-year time limit.80 The version of the agreement entered into by 

the borough contained this limitation. 

 Negotiations were carried out by Mr Stephens for the borough, but he made it clear 

that he had no authority to agree to a contract and would have to report to an appropriate 

committee who would decide whether to enter into the contract under the borough’s own 

delegated powers procedure.81 After the borough entered into the contract, Mr Stephens soon 

realised that this ten-year time limit was a mistake. His intention had been to provide the 

borough with a share of any development profit on the sale of the Underhill ground in 

circumstances other than a permanent relocation within Barnet, and the ten-year period was 

only supposed to define what would be considered to be “permanent”.82 The restriction on the 

use of the Underhill site for football was, according to Mr Stephens, supposed to be unlimited 
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in time. The borough therefore sought rectification. This was refused by the Court of Appeal. 

In a robust judgment, Peter Gibson LJ said:83 

“It is clear that the sale needed to be proposed to and sanctioned by the elected 

members, by an appropriate organ or individual, and that the sanction, once given, 

would delegate to some officer the further conduct of the sale authorising that officer 

to conclude the sale. Mr Stephens’ role was merely that of negotiator and preparer of 

the relevant proposal. Of the two procedures for obtaining the sanction of elected 

members, the delegated powers procedure was the one adopted and under that, whilst 

the proposal would be considered and commented on by senior officers and an elected 

member, with the agreement of the elected member the proposal would then be 

decided upon by a senior officer. Mr Stephens was not one of the senior officers, nor 

of course was the elected member concerned. Therefore, Mr Stephens’ intention was 

immaterial, as the judge rightly found in paragraph 129.84 That was the only case 

pleaded on behalf of the Borough and with its failure the case for rectification fails. 

Of course if Mr Stephens’ intention, as the person involved on behalf of the Borough 

in the accord, had been shared by the persons concerned in the delegated powers 

procedure to comment on and consent to and to give the sanction for the sale, then his 

intention might have been relevant in that indirect way. But the Borough would have 

had to show that that was the intention of those persons. It was never the pleaded case 

of the Borough that such persons’ intentions were relevant. Nor did any of such 

persons give evidence, although there is nothing to suggest that they were not 

available to do so.” 

 This approach of Peter Gibson LJ should be supported. The senior officers or elected 

members were able plainly to see that there was a ten-year limit on the relevant term. This 

was not hidden or ambiguous. There was no evidence that they were labouring under any 

mistake in thinking that the clear language meant something different from its natural 

meaning. Mr Stephens may have made a mistake, but that was irrelevant. He was not the 

decision maker. That meant that the borough’s claim for rectification could not get off the 

ground, regardless of whether the defendant also made a mistake, or knew of Mr Stephens’ 

mistake.85 

 Peter Gibson LJ reiterated this approach to negotiators in the context of rectification 

in George Wimpey UK Ltd v VI Construction Ltd.86 The defendant, VIC, sold land to the 

claimant, Wimpey, for an initial payment with a deferred payment becoming due in a certain 

contingency. Mr Ketteridge was in charge of the negotiations on behalf of Wimpey. He was a 

Regional Director of Wimpey, but it was clear that he did not have the authority to enter into 

a contract with VIC, and neither did the person to whom he reported, Mr Kendal. Instead, the 
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decision had to be made by the main board for Wimpey, upon presentation of a written 

commercial report from Mr Ketteridge and a written legal report from its solicitors, 

Eversheds. VIC was fully aware of this situation.87 The contractual formula for the deferred 

payment was clearly expressed in the written contract executed by the board of Wimpey, but 

Wimpey later argued that it should be rectified on the grounds of mistake. The Court of 

Appeal overturned the decision of the trial judge and refused to grant rectification. The 

primary ground for allowing the appeal was that VIC was not mistaken; nor had it acted 

dishonestly since it did not know or shut its eyes to a mistake being made by Wimpey. But 

the appeal was also allowed because there was no convincing evidence that the board of 

Wimpey actually made a mistake. As Peter Gibson LJ put it:88 

“In the present case Mr. Ketteridge was also only the negotiator and not the decision-

taker. The judge was troubled by the absence from the witness-box of Mr. Kendal, but 

Mr. Kendal was also not the decision-taker. However, had he been called it may be 

that he could have given evidence of any presentation which he made to the board of 

Wimpey to obtain its approval to the contract in its final form. The evidence does not 

even establish that he did make such a presentation. There is no evidence of what the 

decision-takers themselves, the members of the board, thought. There are no minutes 

of any board meeting nor any instructions to the signatory of the contract, Mr. Hewitt, 

who gave no evidence. … 

There are in evidence Eversheds’ legal reports and Mr. Ketteridge’s commercial 

reports, but they are worded in general terms and do not draw attention to the specific 

point of enhancements featuring in the formula. Without further evidence I do not see 

how one can escape the conclusion that the board, which was supplied with the draft 

contract in April and with the final draft at the beginning of July 1999, intended to 

approve the contract in the form in which it was put to the board and in which it was 

executed. I would allow the appeal on this ground too.” 

 Sedley LJ89 and Blackburne J90 both gave similar reasons for allowing the appeal. The 

focus for rectification properly lies on the intention of the board – perhaps best reflected in 

the board minutes – rather than that of the negotiator. If the contract is clearly drafted, the 

very strong presumption is that the board intended to agree to those terms. Convincing 

evidence is needed to prove the contrary. The fact that a negotiator with no binding decision-

making power thought differently is generally irrelevant. 

 It is important to emphasise that these decisions from the Court of Appeal are sensible 

starting points for further analysis of this area. However, in Murray Holdings Investments Ltd 

v Oscatallo Investments Ltd, Mann J thought that “[t]hese are really cases which turn on their 

own facts, and are only of assistance if the facts provide a striking parallel with the present 
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case”.91 Yet no reason was given to justify side-lining Barnet and Wimpey so easily; their 

facts are not uncommon, and both decisions can be applied more broadly.92  

 

ii) Exploiting the negotiator’s intention 

 More recently, there has been a shift away from treating the negotiator’s intention as 

irrelevant. An important decision in this regard is Hawksford Trustees Jersey Limited as 

Trustee of the Bald Eagle Trust v Stella Global UK Limited.93 Hawksford, a professional 

corporate trustee, was the sole trustee of a discretionary trust established for the benefit of Mr 

Begg and his family. Mr Begg was the founder of a travel company, The Global Travel 

Group Ltd (“Global”). Almost all the shares in Global were owned by the Trust. In 2007, 

Hawksford agreed to sell its shares in Global to the defendant, Stella Global. The share 

purchase agreement (“SPA”) provided for a formula to calculate earn-out payments. 

However, Hawksford subsequently brought a claim for rectification on the basis that it did 

not accurately reflect the parties’ common intention. 

 Stella Global resisted the claim for rectification on the basis that there was no shared 

mistake – which the trial judge rejected – and that the relevant decision-maker for the 

claimant had not been mistaken when entering into the agreement. The Court of Appeal 

needed to deal with this latter issue. The agreement had been negotiated by Mr Begg. But 

there was a “lack of any identifiable legal relationship between Mr Begg and Hawksford”.94 

Indeed, as Patten LJ explained, “there was no express delegation of any power to Mr Begg 

nor was he employed as an agent in connection with the sale of the shares. On the contrary, 

the trustee’s resolution to accept Stella’s offer for the shares and to approve their sale on the 

terms of the original SPA expressly provided that the agreement should be executed by a 

director and a representative of the corporate secretary of the company”.95 

 It therefore seems clear that Mr Begg was not the relevant decision-maker for 

Hawksford. The trial judge had found that “the Claimant itself had no intention whatsoever” 

as regards what should be included in the relevant formula, and there was no evidence that 

Mr Begg drew this issue to the attention of the trustees.96 As a result, following the lead of 

Barnet and Wimpey, the Court of Appeal might have been expected to refuse to rectify the 

contract, since the claimant was not under a mistake, and the intentions of Mr Begg as a mere 

negotiator were irrelevant. But the opposite conclusion was reached. 
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 Patten LJ rightly noted that “there is an obvious case for limiting the decision-maker 

to the person who was authorised to make the contract on behalf of the company”,97 and this 

description was clearly not fulfilled by Mr Begg. However, on the particular facts of the case, 

their Lordships held that the officer of the trustee company did not apply any independent 

judgment when deciding whether to enter into the contract, and was content to do as Mr Begg 

wished. Patten LJ ultimately concluded that:98 

“the decision-maker ought in principle to be the person who has the authority to bind 

the company to the contract. The expressed intentions of a mere negotiator will 

therefore be immaterial unless he is also the decision-maker or shares in a relevant 

way those intentions with the person who is the decision-maker on behalf of the 

company. But, whilst those principles are easily stated, their application to the facts of 

any given case may be less straightforward. In a corporation with a defined and well-

understood decision-making structure the division of responsibility should be readily 

apparent at least if the prescribed procedures are followed. But this is not a case of 

that kind. Although the trustee alone by its officers had the power to enter into the 

SPA and the Amended SPA, it is clear from the judge’s findings of fact that this 

decision was largely a formality provided that the terms of the sale were acceptable to 

Mr Begg. His role as a negotiator was therefore critical both to his own willingness to 

see the shares sold on the terms he had agreed and to the trustee’s decision to sell 

them on that basis. 

… 

Even if this does not make Mr Begg the decision-maker, what it does, I think, do is to 

demonstrate, when looked at objectively, that the trustee entered into the Amended 

SPA with the positive intention that it should give effect to the terms which Mr Begg 

had negotiated and agreed. On the judge’s findings of fact it would not have agreed to 

sell on any other terms. Hawksford did nothing to indicate to the defendants that it 

intended to contract on any different terms from those which Mr Begg had agreed and 

which the judge found constituted the common intention of both parties. It merely 

proceeded to execute the document which both sides believed contained those terms. 

The actual expression of accord which the judge found existed in the e-mails and 

other communications passing between Mr Begg and the defendants therefore 

continued up to the execution of the Amended SPA because that was the only and 

apparent basis on which the trustee and the defendants entered into the contract. Mr 

Robinson and Mr Carr [Hawksford’s authorised representatives] made no 

amendments of their own to the Amended SPA and were clearly seen and understood 

to be giving legal effect to what Mr Begg had agreed. The fact that they were in error 

in this respect entitles the trustee, in my view, to obtain rectification of the Amended 

SPA in the form ordered by the judge. It is therefore a case where, on the facts, the 
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mistaken assumption on the part of Mr Begg was shared by Hawksford. The fact that 

Mr Robinson and Mr Carr gave no specific thought to the definition of 2007 EBITDA 

is irrelevant.” 

 Granting the claim for rectification seems somewhat generous to the claimant. The 

decision-maker was considered to have the positive intention that it should give effect to the 

terms which Mr Begg had negotiated and agreed. This stands in contrast to the approach of 

Peter Gibson LJ in Barnet and Wimpey that the decision-maker should be taken to have 

intended to give effect to the plain meaning of the language encompassed in the final 

document. Indeed, it is perhaps not even clear that the claimant and defendant in Hawksford 

shared the same mistake. The defendant may have been mistaken about the earn-out 

payments, but the claimant was not really mistaken about those payments but that the 

agreement reflected Mr Begg’s intentions. That is a less precise mistake.99  

 Nevertheless, the decision might be supported. On the basis that the defendant also 

made a mistake about the formula in the final agreement, it may appear to give the defendant 

an undeserved windfall to refuse rectification on a “technical point” that the intentions of Mr 

Begg were irrelevant. However, this argument should not be pressed too far. The claimant 

made a choice not to delegate its powers or authority to Mr Begg, and this can cut both ways: 

it can protect the claimant from liability for anything Mr Begg purportedly agrees on its 

behalf, but then the claimant should not automatically be able to adopt Mr Begg’s intentions 

for its own advantage. Mr Begg was the beneficiary under a trust. The trustees of a 

discretionary trust can take advice as to what to do – including from Mr Begg – but must 

ultimately make their own decision.  

 It is suggested that Hawksford is an unusual case. It was important that the decision-

maker was entirely passive and relied completely on the negotiator, and that explains why the 

intentions of the negotiator were relevant. But it seems clear that Patten LJ supported the 

general principles put forward in Barnet and Wimpey. It is therefore a little surprising that 

Barnet and Wimpey have been said to be restricted to their own facts.100  

 Two recent applications of Hawksford can usefully be highlighted. Murray Holdings 

Investments Ltd v Oscatallo Investments Ltd101 concerned the restructuring of Kaupthing 

Bank. As part of the restructuring, the defendant, Oscatello, was to acquire an interest in 

shares in Somerfield supermarkets held by the claimant, Isis (later known as Murray). A term 

of the contract between the parties provided for a waterfall of payments once the Somerfield 

interest was realised. On the face of the contract, Oscatello would get back the £44.05 million 

it paid on entering into the agreement after the payment of any third party costs and expenses, 

but the £44.15 million invested by Isis would not be returned to Isis. Isis argued that this was 
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a mistake: the parties only ever intended that Oscatello purchase the “upside” of the 

investment (in other words, the excess of its value over the acquisition cost) and Isis would 

get back its investment before Oscatello’s money was returned. As a result, Isis sought 

rectification of the contract. 

 The case was somewhat unusual since no oral evidence was called by either side.102 

This perhaps reflects the shift in rectification generally away from a subjective test of 

intention to an objective one.103 In any event, Mr Gunnarsson led the negotiations for the 

claimant, and Mr Brown for the defendant. Mr Gunnarsson was a Kaupthing employee. Mr 

Brown’s situation was more complicated. He was an employee of a company hired by the 

trustees of the defendant to provide the services of Investment Adviser, and the terms of the 

agreement with Mr Brown expressly stipulated that “the Trustees shall retain the power at all 

times to decide whether or not to act upon any matter brought to their attention by the 

Consultant [Mr Brown] as they shall in their absolute discretion determine including, without 

limitation, the power to determine whether to act, or not to act, upon any recommendation of 

the Consultant”.104 It was clear that Mr Brown did not have authority to bind the defendant, 

nor was he held out as having any such authority.105 Mr Brown reported to the trustees of 

Investec, who decided that the contract would be entered into by Oscatello, a BVI shelf 

company which was only introduced into the transaction at the end of the process in order to 

provide one of the vehicles for the restructuring. The directors of Oscatello did not exercise 

any material judgement independent of the trustees, who were the essential decision-

makers.106 

 Mann J was clear that Mr Gunarsson and the directors of the claimant intended only 

to agree to a sale of the upside. This was evidenced in the minutes of the board meeting, 

which obviated the need to discuss whether Mr Gunarsson’s intentions should be attributed to 

the claimant. There was also evidence that Mr Brown had informed the trustee that the 

intention was to purchase the upside only, and that Isis would get its capital back upon a sale. 

As a result, the intention of Mr Brown was shared by the trustees. Both parties were 

mistaken, so rectification on the basis of common mistake was available.107 

 However, Mann J went on to consider the situation where the trustees did not share 

Mr Brown’s intention. The judge relied upon Hawksford for the proposition that “authority 

provides examples of situations where the intention of someone who is not a director falls to 
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be treated as the relevant intention for the purposes of rectification”.108 Mann J ultimately felt 

able to derive the following principles:109 

“(a) One is looking for the person who in reality is the decision maker in the 

transaction in order to find intentions in relation to rectification. 

(b) In the case of the company that person will usually be the person with authority to 

bind the company. 

(c) Someone who is not a person with power to bind can nonetheless be treated as the 

decision maker if that is the reality on the facts. 

(d) The intention of a “mere negotiator” may be relevant if it is shared with the actual 

decision maker; but, as it seems to me, that is because the intention has become that of 

the actual decision maker. 

(e) Where a person who would normally be expected to be the decision maker (such 

as the board of a company) leaves it to a negotiator to negotiate a deal and produce a 

contract by instructing solicitors, on the understanding that the decision maker would 

do a deal on those terms, then the negotiator’s intention is the relevant one, either 

because that person is the decision maker, or, if that description is not apt, because the 

technical decision maker has simply adopted the intentions of the negotiator 

(Hawksford at paragraph 43; and see Liberty Mercian Ltd v Cuddy Civil Engineering 

Ltd [2013) EWHC 2688 (TCC) at para 130).” 

Propositions (a), (b) and (d) appear uncontroversial. They emphasise that the proper 

focus is upon the decision-maker, which is usually the person with authority to bind the 

company. The “mere negotiator’s” intention should be shared with the company for that 

intention to become the company’s intention. Propositions (c) and (e) go further and should 

be treated with circumspection. It is not clear exactly when a person who does not have 

power to bind can be treated as the decision-maker, especially if that would favour the 

company which refused to give the negotiator power to bind: the flip-side of protecting itself 

in that way may well be that it cannot then rely upon the negotiator’s unshared intentions to 

rectify the plain language of a contract it signed. Indeed, that may have been the case in 

Oscatello, had Mr Brown not shared his intentions with the trustees, for example. Proposition 

(e) is entirely consistent with Hawksford, which of course was binding upon Mann J. But it 

may seem generous to the company to find that the “technical decision maker has simply 

adopted the intentions of the negotiator” without requiring the company to prove that such 

intentions were positively adopted by the decision-maker. A “technical decision maker” is 

still a decision-maker. 
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 On the facts, Mann J held that Mr Gunarsson should be seen as the real decision 

maker for the claimant, since the directors of Isis were essentially passive in a similar manner 

to the trustees in Hawksford. This again raises the issue of whether it is satisfactory for the 

person who has authority to bind the company not to exercise independent judgement about 

the contents of the contract he or she signs. In any event, it seems clear that, as in Hawksford, 

the passive nature of the directors was important. Indeed, Mann J was less willing to attribute 

the intentions of Mr Brown to Oscatello and the trustees, since those trustees played a more 

active role than the directors of Isis, so their intentions were important as the real decision-

makers.110 

 The decision in Oscatello was relied upon by Henry Carr J in FSHC Group Holdings 

Ltd v Barclays Bank Plc.111 The claimant was a parent company which entered into a private 

equity financing transaction in 2012 that required it to provide security over a shareholder 

loan. In 2016, it spotted that the relevant security documentation had either never been 

provided or could not be located. It therefore entered into Accession Deeds with the 

defendant bank to provide that security. By mistake, much more onerous obligations were 

undertaken by the claimant than was required, and it sought to rectify the deeds by deleting 

the additional obligations that were not necessary. 

 Henry Carr J readily acknowledged that this was a “difficult case”112 and raised a 

number of issues concerning rectification. The issue of attribution was ultimately not crucial 

because all the relevant parties – including the decision-makers – on both sides thought the 

claimant was only doing what was necessary rather than taking on additional obligations. 

However, the judge did accept that a negotiator’s intention “may be the relevant intention for 

rectification purposes, either because the third party’s intention has been shared with the 

corporate entity, or because the corporate entity has adopted the third party’s intention”.113 

 It is suggested that the distinction between active and passive authorised decision-

makers is crucial. It may be that every contract entered into by a company cannot be properly 

checked and discussed by a person who has authority to enter into a contract. It may therefore 

be reasonable to rely upon the person who negotiated the deal, and that negotiator might be 

considered to be the true decision-maker. This might be particularly appropriate where the 

principal is essentially committed to follow the recommendations of the agent. However, it is 

important that the principal be entirely passive if the negotiator’s intentions are to be crucial 

for the purposes of rectification, at least as regards the aspect of the agreement under 

dispute.114 Where the principal does seek to understand properly the relevant terms of the 

contract and plays an active role in deciding to enter into the contract on the written terms 
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presented by the negotiator, then the intentions of the authorised principal should trump those 

of the negotiator: the principal would be the decision-maker for the purposes of rectification.  

 On this approach, the result reached in Daventry District Council v Daventry & 

District Housing Ltd115 is unfortunate. The board of DDH did play an active role in the 

decision-making process and were not mistaken. The intention of the board should have 

trumped the mistaken intention of its negotiator, Mr Roebuck. However, it was suggested in 

Daventry that the result of the case might have been better reached through rectification for 

unilateral mistake, rather than common mistake.116 This possibility should now be 

considered. 

  

B Unilateral mistake rectification 

Rectification on the basis of unilateral mistake has rightly been described as a 

“drastic” remedy.117 After all, it “has the result of imposing on the defendant a contract which 

he did not, and did not intend to, make and relieving the claimant from a contract which he 

did, albeit did not intend to, make”.118 Since by definition one contracting party is not 

mistaken, that non-mistaken party must have acted culpably in some way to justify 

rectification. Equity will only intervene if the non-mistaken party actually knew of the other 

party’s mistake, or at least recklessly turned a blind eye to it.119  

Where the negotiator was fully authorised to conclude a contract, then the courts have 

been prepared to hold that the negotiator’s bad conduct can be attributed to the company.120  

But difficulties will again arise where the person with authority to enter into the contract is 

different from the person who negotiated the contract, since only the latter but not the former 

may have acted badly. It is suggested that a company cannot readily disassociate itself from 

the dishonest conduct of an agent, whether authorised to bind the company or not. In the 

context of misrepresentation, it has been said that “no person can take advantage of the fraud 

of his agent”.121 Even an incomplete agent is authorised to conduct the negotiations for a draft 

agreement, and the principal may represent to the counterparty that these negotiations will be 
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conducted honestly. Admittedly, it may often be somewhat harsher to impose a rectified 

contract on the non-mistaken company than simply rescind the contract ab initio, but this 

outcome would be consistent with the principle that the company cannot absolve itself of all 

liability for the conduct of its agent. So, if in Daventry Mr Roebuck had been found to be 

dishonest, DDH may still have been lumbered with a contract to which it would not have 

agreed. That would be tough on DDH, but on balance should be accepted in order to protect 

the counterparty which was dishonestly allowed to proceed whilst labouring under a known 

mistake. 

The situation is perhaps different where the company wants to rectify a contract for 

unilateral mistake. This raises similar issues considered as regards common mistake: the 

company must be able to say it was mistaken. It is therefore important to identify the relevant 

intention of the decision-maker. If the principal was entirely passive122 whilst the negotiator 

made a mistake, then it would be consistent with Hawksford to grant rectification if the 

counterparty acted culpably. However, if the principal played an active role and was the true 

decision-maker, then rectification should not be granted if the principal did not make a 

mistake but the negotiator did.  

 

IV Conclusion 
 “The precise distribution of management decision-making authority in any particular 

company may be a matter of chance”.123 Close consideration of the facts at issue is necessary. 

Nevertheless, it is suggested that the approach of the Court of Appeal in Barnet and Wimpey 

should remain the starting point when analysing whether rectification should be granted in 

situations where a person who negotiated a contract did not have any authority to bind his or 

her principal. The person with authority to enter into the contract is, presumptively, also the 

decision-maker. That person’s intention is paramount.  

 This approach helps to ensure that a company cannot escape the consequences of its 

“own corporate neglect”124 in failing to take care properly to understand the plain meaning of 

the contract. It is sensible to insist that those with authority to sign carefully check the 

contents of the agreement. Otherwise, the company would be able to reap all the benefits of 

not bestowing upon the negotiator any authority to bind, and yet not incur the consequent 

flip-side of not being able to rely upon the negotiator’s intentions in a claim for rectification, 

for example. 

 A strict approach to intention would reduce the number of instances of rectification, 

but this may be no bad thing. However, there has been a spate of recent cases where the 
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person with authority to enter into the contract is passive, and relies upon the negotiator. 

Even though the negotiator has no authority to enter into a contract, in effect the negotiator is 

responsible for making the decision to enter into the contract. That was an important factor in 

Hawksford, for instance. That decision has been influential, although it should be 

remembered that in both Murray and FSHC it was not ultimately necessary to rely upon this 

issue of attribution. Hawksford may be considered to depart from a strict application of 

Barnet and Wimpey, and might be doubted on its own facts. Trustees cannot normally just let 

beneficiaries or settlors decide what should be done with trust property. Trustees of a 

discretionary trust should exercise their own discretion, so their own intentions should count 

for rectification. In any event, it is suggested that Hawksford should not be interpreted 

expansively, and should be restricted to the narrow context of a person with authority to enter 

into a contract being entirely passive and accepting the negotiator’s presentation of the 

relevant term of the contract at face value without further discussion. 

If the principal exercises any discretion or judgement as regards the term at issue, then 

it is suggested that the relevant intention should be that of the principal rather than negotiator, 

in the manner suggested by Peter Gibson LJ in Barnet and Wimpey. It should not be assumed 

that the principal simply adopts the negotiator’s mistake; clear evidence that the negotiator 

shared his or her intention with the principal is required. This approach further suggests that 

the result in Daventry should have been different. The board of DDH did retain true decision-

making powers. As a result, the intentions of the board, and not the negotiator, should have 

been the focus of attention, and the board was not mistaken. The actual decision in Daventry 

makes it unfortunately difficult for a company to structure its affairs such that the intentions 

of the negotiator are irrelevant, and the power to decide whether to enter into a commercial 

agreement remains with the board of a company.    

 

 

 

 


